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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good morning.

          3  The Committee on Governmental Operations is called

          4  to order, and we are pleased to announce that we

          5  have the pleasure of having the Gelb Commission here

          6  in its entirety and they will make a presentation,

          7  and at this time we are going to ask that they come

          8  forward and they will take seats and identify

          9  themselves by name and commence their presentation.

         10                 MR. GELB: Good morning, Madam

         11  Chairman. I am Richard L. Gelb, I am the Chairman of

         12  the Commission. I am delighted to be here with you

         13  this morning.

         14                 MR. BREZENOFF: Stan Brezenoff.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I thought he

         16  looked vaguely familiar. Have you ever been here

         17  before?

         18                 Good morning, sir. Will you commence.

         19                 MR. GELB: Madam Chairman, I have a

         20  short statement to make, if I may.

         21                 As you know, Section 3-601 of the

         22  Administrative Code directs the Mayor to appoint

         23  every four years an advisory commission comprised of

         24  private citizens to review the compensation levels

         25  of the elected officials of the City of New York,
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          2  and if warranted, to recommend changes in their

          3  compensation.

          4                 The Administrative Code provides in

          5  part that the Commission shall study the

          6  compensation levels for the Mayor, the Public

          7  Advocate, the Comptroller, the Borough Presidents,

          8  the Council Members and the District Attorneys of

          9  the five counties within the City and shall

         10  recommend changes in those compensation levels if

         11  warranted.

         12                 In making its recommendations, the

         13  Commission shall take into consideration the duties

         14  and responsibilities of each position, the current

         15  salary of each position, and the length of time

         16  since that salary was last changed. Any change in

         17  the cost of living is to be considered as well as

         18  compression of salary levels for other officers and

         19  employees of the City and salaries and salary trends

         20  and positions with analogous duties and

         21  responsibilities both within the Government and in

         22  the private sector.

         23                 At the conclusion of the study and

         24  review, the Commission is required to issue to the

         25  Mayor a report containing its recommendations
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          2  regarding the compensation levels for any and/or

          3  re-elected positions. The Commissions' report was

          4  submitted to Mayor Giuliani on June 7th, 1999, the

          5  Mayor in advance of the 30 days required by law

          6  submitted his recommendation to the City Council on

          7  June 25th, 1999.

          8                 Based on our study and review of the

          9  facts, the Commission recommends that salary levels

         10  for the positions of New York City's elected

         11  officials be increased effective July 1st, 1999. And

         12  these new salaries are, for the Mayor, $195,000. For

         13  the Public Advocate, $150,000. For the Comptroller,

         14  $160,000. For the Borough Presidents, $135,000. For

         15  Council Members, $90,000. And for the District

         16  Attorneys, $150,000.

         17                 Although increases in the level of

         18  compensation for elected officials are never

         19  popular, the magnitude of the duties,

         20  responsibilities and accountability associated with

         21  positions responsible for governing the largest City

         22  in the United States must be recognized.

         23                 New York is the most complex US City

         24  to manage. It is the most populated City, producing

         25  the highest revenue, providing more services than
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          2  other cities. Yet, its elected officials are not

          3  compensated at a level that is commensurate with

          4  their responsibilities when compared to the

          5  compensation paid by other cities or the

          6  compensation paid by some agencies, authorities and

          7  labor unions within New York City and New York

          8  State.

          9                 These increases will effectively ease

         10  the salary compression within municipal government,

         11  and better allow the City to attract and retain the

         12  appropriate level of talent required to run this

         13  large and complex city.

         14                 We note that the implementation of

         15  term limits makes it particularly important that

         16  salary levels are set at an appropriate level to

         17  attract and retain the most qualified candidates for

         18  elected positions.

         19                 This will be of particular importance

         20  for the City Council because 37 of the 51 members or

         21  73 percent of the Council will not be able to stand

         22  for re-election. However, it also applies to all

         23  three Citywide officials and four of the five

         24  Borough Presidents.

         25                 Further, the increase proposed are
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          2  appropriate in light of the economic inflation

          3  trends and salary growth projections described in

          4  this report.

          5                 It is also important to note that the

          6  salary levels of New York City's elected positions

          7  will not be reviewed again until the Year 2003.

          8  While the proposed salary levels are appropriate by

          9  today's standards, the continuing effects with

         10  inflation and the trends in the salaries among

         11  non-elected employees will cause New York City's

         12  elected offices to experience substantial salary

         13  erosion in economic terms over the next four years.

         14                 We believe, therefore, that this

         15  recommendation is necessary and fair and the

         16  Commission strongly recommends the approval and

         17  immediate implementation as of July 1st, 1999, of

         18  the Commission's proposed salary increases.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 And I should ad that you all have

         21  copies of the report itself, and this, my comments

         22  are expanded on at great length in that report.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We thank you for

         24  your testimony, but we would also ask if you have

         25  additional copies we could use additional copies. We
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          2  have some members who are en route.

          3                 MR. GELB: I believe we have some with

          4  us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, fine. And

          6  I would hate to say that we are all anxious to

          7  receive copies and the Council should have a copy.

          8                 MR. GELB: A number of copies that are

          9  provided should take care of it, and we can always

         10  provide more.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Sabini.

         13                 Does anyone further have any further

         14  statement to make at this time?

         15                 Council Member Sabini.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 Good morning, Mr. Gelb and Mr.

         19  Brezenoff, Mr. Kaufman.

         20                 I voted against your last

         21  recommendation on the salary increase both in this

         22  Committee and on the floor of the Council but I

         23  think that there are different circumstances now but

         24  I wanted to ask a couple of questions.

         25                 One of them you addressed in your
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          2  testimony which was the effect of term limits on

          3  attracting people into government, and in fact since

          4  this increase, I by my calculation, will benefit

          5  less than half the term or even of a small fraction

          6  of the term of the majority of the members of the

          7  Council and the other elected officials who are

          8  sitting, and really benefit people who are about to

          9  come into office, it almost has the same effect as

         10  putting in a raise for the people coming in in the

         11  new elections in 2001.

         12                 Additionally, it seems to me that you

         13  are right, that we need to attract people, if the

         14  terms are going to be finite, that in order to get

         15  qualified and meritorious people to run, that you

         16  need to have a salary that would attract people of

         17  great talent who could probably make more money on

         18  the outside.

         19                 One thing -- two things that I wanted

         20  to know if you considered in your report, and I

         21  scanned your report when I got it about a week ago.

         22  At any point did the Commission talk about on the

         23  level of the City Council making the Council

         24  full-time? I know you addressed different kinds of

         25  City Councils around the country in which are
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          2  full-time and which are part-time, but did you look

          3  at the concept of limiting outside income?

          4                 I know this is a full-time job for

          5  many of us. The last few nights I was here until

          6  7:00 and then off to community meetings, so I know

          7  it is a full-time job for me. But there are those

          8  that, frankly, the Committee assignments are not

          9  quite as weighty and perhaps have law practices or

         10  other businesses and I am just wondering if you took

         11  that into account?

         12                 MR. GELB: Well, we talked about it

         13  and as we talked about it at our last -- four years

         14  ago, however, we felt that it really wasn't part of

         15  our charge to make that determination. I am not

         16  quite sure whether it is a Charter Commission, you

         17  know, event, or whether it should be done elsewhere,

         18  but we did not feel that it was appropriate for us

         19  to try to make that decision.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, since

         21  the Commission sets the salaries, do you consider

         22  the salary of $90,000 a year to be a full-time

         23  salary?

         24                 MR. GELB: Pardon, sir?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Is that a
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          2  part-time salary or a full-time salary, $90,000,

          3  since you said it?

          4                 MR. GELB: As you are structured now,

          5  if you are considered part-time it would be a

          6  part-time salary. If you consider yourself full-time

          7  even though you are a part-time it would be that.

          8                 If your question is if suddenly

          9  somebody were to come in and say now you are

         10  full-time, would we say that is an appropriate

         11  salary, I could only say we would have to think

         12  about that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Just on the

         14  same page then, I would have to think about whether

         15  the average New Yorker considers $90,000 part-time

         16  pay, I would think they don't.

         17                 I would also like to know if at any

         18  point you considered the idea that I mentioned

         19  earlier, that the, much like other legislative

         20  bodies, the effective data and the increase would

         21  kick in after the next election.

         22                 MR. GELB: Once again, we did talk

         23  about that, and, you know, I think our feeling,

         24  number one, was that we didn't have the luxury of

         25  making that determination. But my view of that, as
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          2  long as a legislature, any legislature is going to

          3  be charged with in effect determining what its

          4  salary will be, it seems to me that there is no way

          5  of effectively separating the raise from the people

          6  who give themselves the raise. And I could almost

          7  make a case that in some ways this is probably the

          8  most appropriate time to even come close to that,

          9  because of the impending coming of term limits.

         10  Because somebody said to me, well, gee, if you had

         11  the raise let's say today put in effective after the

         12  next election, you could say well that would be

         13  doing it, but my response to that would be

         14  historically I think and traditionally, you know,

         15  you can generalize what percent of any congress or

         16  City Council returns, and I don't know the City

         17  Council number but I wouldn't be surprised if

         18  somebody said that from year to year 90 percent of

         19  the City Council gets re-elected or 80 percent, so

         20  in effect whatever you did you would still be voting

         21  for yourselves.

         22                 I think that as long as a system says

         23  that a legislature is going to do it, it is going to

         24  be very hard to achieve what you want, even though I

         25  can see merit to that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. Well,

          3  as you point out operationally this is a gray area

          4  that we are in right now in terms of governance of

          5  the City. We haven't had this term limits specter

          6  before, and that is the reason that I am actually

          7  sort of torn on this one, I was pretty clear on my

          8  position the last raise, and in fact the parts that

          9  were paid up until the point of swearing in of the

         10  new Council I gave away.

         11                 But you are right, this is a gray

         12  area and I am not really sure where the right

         13  position falls, but I want to thank you for your

         14  candor in answering the questions. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Before we

         16  proceed further, please allow me to present the

         17  members of the Council.

         18                 To my far left is Council Member

         19  Rivera from the Bronx, Council Member Henry from

         20  Brooklyn. You have just heard from Council Member

         21  Sabini from Queens. I am Council Member Pinkett from

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 To my right, of course, is Jay

         24  Damashek, who is the Associate Director -- Deputy

         25  General Director, excuse me, I get this promotion
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          2  all confused, but he is the Deputy General Director,

          3  and we are fortunate enough to say the Counsel to

          4  our Committee, Jay Damashek, and our policy analyst

          5  is Barbara Montefel. I just wanted to make sure that

          6  your title had not changed also, Barbara. And we

          7  will introduce other staff members, and I have that

          8  policy because I think everyone who contributes to

          9  the whole ought to be recognized because they all

         10  make a difference in the work we do in this Council.

         11                 MR. GELB: If I may break in on that

         12  point? I think I would like to introduce Reggie

         13  Ottom, who is our counsel for this with the firm.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: He should be at

         15  the table.

         16                 MR. GELB: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right, let

         18  me just say that I am going to ask Council Member

         19  Rivera, Council Member Henry, do you have questions

         20  at this time?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, Council

         23  Member Rivera. Use the mic, please.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I agree with

         25  Council Member Sabini. I know I am not a part-timer,
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          2  I know I work five, seven days during the week.

          3  Especially for those of us who are still around,

          4  remember the effects of the cutbacks of the

          5  seventies, '77 to be exact, and Mr. Brezenoff

          6  probably recalls how those cutbacks really affected

          7  the operation of City Council Members because it

          8  changes most of our districts, especially the black

          9  and Latino districts, we have to fill in the gap

         10  created by the cutbacks, we became sort of

         11  socio-agencies, providing additional services that

         12  were no longer there being provided by organizations

         13  funded through the City of New York.

         14                 I thought I would just enter that

         15  into the record and go back a little bit to the

         16  history.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         18  Henry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Yes, Madam

         20  Chair. I just have one question to ask.

         21                 I am concerned about this, I don't

         22  know if it is under your purview or not, but to what

         23  extend do the increases effect benefits once the

         24  Council members, whose of us who will be leaving the

         25  year 2001, to what extent does it affect pension and
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          2  other benefits?

          3                 And also coupled with that, seeing

          4  that we really are serving limited time of, you

          5  know, two consecutive terms, what revisions will

          6  then be made in terms of that? Seeing that one would

          7  not be eligible for certain benefits, if one does

          8  not -- I think in the past ten years, at least ten

          9  years in Office we would be serving eight years, I

         10  don't know if that is under your purview or not.

         11                 MR. GELB: I don't think it is. I will

         12  ask Mr. Kaufman in a minute, or Mr. Brezenoff, but

         13  the one thing I do know about the City pension

         14  system is that it is depending on how long someone

         15  serves depends on how much their pension, it isn't

         16  the same standard, I don't think, for everything. It

         17  is a matter of state law.

         18                 MR. KAUFMAN: We were told there are

         19  three of four different pension systems that you

         20  belong to, depending upon when you started, and

         21  there are different results of increases for

         22  different pension systems. We have not touched that

         23  because that is the arrangement that you all

         24  effectively are entitled to for your City's service

         25  and it is beyond our scope. But the answer is it has
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          2  a different effect on different members, from what

          3  you have been told.

          4                 Could I make one other comment, if I

          5  might, because I thought Member Sabini's question

          6  was very much to the point about intervening

          7  elections.

          8                 The difference between the system in

          9  the city, and I think it is a very good system you

         10  have got, and in the Congress and in the State

         11  Legislature, is the fact that there is a commission

         12  like this. And so that we have come to the

         13  legislature with a study that says this is the

         14  appropriate amount and you are not starting from

         15  scratch saying gee, this is what we would like to do

         16  for ourselves. I think that is a big difference.

         17                 MR. BREZENOFF: I would like to

         18  emphasize something that Dick Gelb mentioned. This

         19  is not a broad gauged group. This was a small group

         20  that was put together to focus on our very important

         21  but fairly narrow set of questions. The issues that

         22  have been raised around part-time, around deferral

         23  of increases, to subsequent legislature, those are

         24  important issues that need a different kind of a

         25  forum, a broader-based forum, more reflective of the
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          2  City, like a Charter Revision Commission, and really

          3  couldn't be the problems of groups such as this to

          4  honestly reflect what the interests of this City

          5  are.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would think

          7  that the pension question will not change.  If you

          8  are in Tier 4 for, it does not change the time

          9  required in order to get a pension. It simply means

         10  that you cannot get the pension until you have

         11  accumulated the required time, the prerequisite time

         12  for retirement. It simply talks in terms of amount

         13  of funds that you have in the pension system, and

         14  the matched of the City and the Social Security

         15  match which comprises the Tier 4 contribution. It

         16  does not affect the time.

         17                 The second part, I think the only

         18  part that has to do, and this would be where I would

         19  say ought to be a broader scope and it is not the

         20  function of this particular task force, it would be

         21  whether or not there should have been consideration

         22  of part-time or full-time because that was not the

         23  mission of this particular task force.

         24                 I do agree, however, that I think we

         25  are in a better circumstance, simply because unlike
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          2  the state and the federal legislators, we have a

          3  body that recommends so that it is not a situation

          4  whereas legislators we have sweetened the pot for

          5  ourselves. What we need, though, is I think that

          6  kind of task force which would accept the fact that

          7  from 1974, not 1977, from the first expansion of the

          8  City Council, there ought to have been consideration

          9  of the changes within the Council, and the changing

         10  facts, in terms of the hours of work and the type of

         11  work so that it was no longer just a body of

         12  legislators and attorneys, but it became a different

         13  kind of body, and so you had more people who were

         14  full-time as Council Members, and regarding the

         15  Council position as a full-time position. And that

         16  has been an ongoing discussion. This is not your

         17  discussion, that is a discussion that we have as

         18  Council members and that is a legitimate part, I

         19  think of the discussion of salary.

         20                 Hence, when I look at salary

         21  recommendations for others who, even as you did, I

         22  left here to go to another Committee meeting after

         23  last night. That means it is still part of the work

         24  day. I didn't decide that, oh, I think I will be

         25  going to a movie or go any place else, I went to
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          2  another meeting in connection or in conjunction with

          3  this particular position, and that happens to be

          4  part of the life of an elected official, if you are

          5  a City Council Member. That aspect of the City

          6  Council work is considered not to exist by so many

          7  people, because they do not know it, do not

          8  understand it and they are still looking at

          9  pre-1973, and I think there are changes.

         10                 But we thank you for your work and we

         11  appreciate the efforts.

         12                 Council Member Sabini.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Madam --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         15  Sabini and then your question, he was first.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: But I didn't

         17  finish.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Oh, you didn't

         19  finish?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I thought we had

         22  pensioned you off.

         23                 Okay, forgive me. Go ahead.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Yes, I just

         25  would like to ask the Committee, in making this
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          2  determination, what comparable studies were done?

          3                 Were there any other cities or

          4  agencies that you could make this comparison with?

          5                 MR. GELB: Yes. I think the results of

          6  what we did are pretty well shown in the big report.

          7  There are probably ten or 12 tables that refer to

          8  what happens in other cities, levels of income of

          9  different officials, it is all really rather

         10  completely done and if you would like I could take

         11  you through a chart by chart, but I think it is

         12  quite clear. If you started off at page 25, 26 and

         13  continuing on through there, you will see the

         14  revenues, size of different major US cities, you

         15  will see the compensation of the elected officials.

         16  For example, on page 28, what Mayors get in

         17  different cities, what City Council Presidents, a

         18  Public Advocate get, what Comptrollers get, what

         19  District Attorneys get, what City Council Members

         20  get. So, I think that is pretty clear in here and I

         21  would be glad to answer any questions on that, that

         22  you might have. That starts around page 25 through

         23  page 32. And we always have to keep in mind that

         24  when you look at this, there is really no other City

         25  that in any way is comparable to New York City,
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          2  whether size, complexity or what you have.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER HENRY: Oh, yes, I see.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 I think in addition to the salary

          6  increase is we should also receive an official car.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: This is not a

          8  negotiation session, sir.

          9                 Council Member Sabini.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: If we are

         11  going to enter into collective bargaining, I can

         12  think of no better leader than the chair.

         13                 To address the point that Mr.

         14  Brezenoff made and the Chair followed up on. Yes, I

         15  believe that those issues would be addressed by a

         16  larger body, unfortunately the defining moment is

         17  when we vote on this increase, and so we don't have

         18  that in front of us now, nor are we ever likely to

         19  in the next week or so or two weeks or three weeks

         20  before we vote on this. So, I would agree with you,

         21  that would be a topic for a larger and a more

         22  intense scrutiny body, but we don't have that right

         23  now, and we have to make the decision based on what

         24  is in front of us, and that is what troubles me a

         25  little.
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          2                 As I say, the issue is less clear to

          3  me this time than it was several years ago when we

          4  voted.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Are there any

          7  further questions?

          8                 Hearing none, we would like to thank

          9  you for your report and you will hear from us if

         10  there are further questions.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. GELB: Thank you, Madam

         13  Chairwoman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Conn Nugent.

         15  Would you please identify yourself by title and

         16  organization for the record.

         17                 MR. NUGENT: Yes, Council Member. I am

         18  Conn Nugent, I am the Executive Director of the

         19  Citizens Union, a 102 year old good government group

         20  monitoring the performance of the City of New York.

         21  And I am particularly pleased to be here this

         22  morning, Madam Chair, because it is such a pleasure

         23  to come before you and praise a piece of work and

         24  praise a process and to congratulate the Council and

         25  to congratulate the members of the Commission on
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          2  really what is an exemplary process. This is a

          3  success story, a success of Section 3601. It is a

          4  well written dispassionate piece of work. This is a

          5  successful job performed by the Commission, and I

          6  must declare a bias, Madam Chairwoman, Mr. Kaufman

          7  sits on the Board of Citizens Union, but I assure

          8  you that I could speak both as an individual and as

          9  an employee to speak to his character and acuity,

         10  and I think the recommendations that were presented

         11  to the Mayor are wise recommendations. They are

         12  judicious recommendations, and it is not always easy

         13  to make judicious recommendations about levels of

         14  compensation for public officials. It is far easier

         15  to make politically popular but short-sighted

         16  remarks about these questions and the Commission

         17  should be congratulated for the content of their

         18  recommendations as well.

         19                 The Mayor, too, should be

         20  congratulated for so quickly turning around these

         21  recommendations and handing them over to the City

         22  Council. We endorse this report and we endorse the

         23  specific compensation levels contained in this

         24  report, entirely and explicitly.

         25                 Having said that, Madam Chair, we
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          2  also believe that the points raised by Council

          3  Member Sabini bear pondering, and though we do not

          4  think that this report, as the Commissioners have

          5  indicated, is the appropriate vehicle for

          6  considering issues of full-time versus part-time,

          7  outside income, what have you, we do think those

          8  issues are important, and though some may doubt that

          9  they will be considered fruitfully by the current

         10  sitting Charter Revision Commission, such changes

         11  and such questions can be examined by the Council as

         12  matters of local law.

         13                 We at Citizens Union would encourage

         14  the Council in particular to consider not a

         15  prohibition of outside income, but a limitation on

         16  the amounts of outside income and a prohibition

         17  merely on earned income or income earned through

         18  doing business with the City. We think that income

         19  gained through a contract with the City or through

         20  doing business with the City, neither personal or

         21  professional competency, perhaps should be put off

         22  of the Board while a person services on the City

         23  Council.

         24                 Other than that I think a more

         25  fruitful approach would be to discuss with you a
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          2  possible limitation on outside income.

          3                 More than that, we have no comment

          4  except to endorse the report warmly.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you. We

          7  appreciate your comments, though you are suggesting

          8  that those income be held in a blind trust if they

          9  were put off the board, as you are saying?

         10                 MR. NUGENT: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We concur with

         12  your testimony as to the Commission's report. Our

         13  concern, of course, is that we appreciate and

         14  approve of their work and we agree with what you

         15  said about the work of the Commission, we do not, of

         16  course, want to just say that they are wonderful and

         17  that the work was superb, we think it was and we

         18  think they have been indeed very judicious in terms

         19  of the work that they have done, and I think the

         20  alacrity in which this has come to this Committee is

         21  to be commended.

         22                 We do not want it to be misunderstood

         23  or misinterpreted, because we do not want someone to

         24  suggest that possibly this was a planned encounter,

         25  and s we also take that into consideration, as we
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          2  state our approval of the work that was done for the

          3  Mayor, but also for the benefit of the Council as

          4  well as the Mayor, and other City officials.

          5                 MR. NUGENT: Well, thank you for

          6  allowing me to be the agent to heap praise, I am

          7  glad to help the Council in this regard.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: As far as the

          9  question of limiting income and the other method

         10  through legislation, that is an area of

         11  consideration, possible consideration that the

         12  Council might explore. We cannot say they will but

         13  it is an area of consideration that may be pursued,

         14  and we thank you for your suggestions.

         15                 MR. NUGENT: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. Any

         17  questions?

         18                 Are there any further individuals who

         19  wish to offer testimony at this time?

         20                 Is there anyone who wanted an

         21  appearance ticket to offer testimony and who did not

         22  receive one?

         23                 Is there anyone in this room who

         24  desired to offer testimony and would like to submit

         25  an appearance ticket so that we might hear
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          2  testimony?

          3                 If there are none, our next hearing

          4  on this bill will be July 20th, 1999, at 11:30 a.m.

          5  That is July 20th, 1999, at 11:30 a.m.

          6                 This meeting now stands adjourned.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 10:45 a.m.)
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified
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         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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